ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Appeal from Charleston County

NOV 13 2015

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DEVIN JOHNSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000766

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. In violation of Appellant's state constitutional right to privacy and the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, did the trial judge err in admitting text messages and historical cell service location information obtained from Appellant's cellular service provider by a search warrant lacking probable cause where the search warrant failed to establish a nexus between Appellant's cell phone records and the crime and the warrant was overly broad?

II. Did the trial judge err in admitting Appellant's statement to a police officer where the statement was not given knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily in light of the totality of the circumstances, including the officer's repeated refusal to permit Appellant an opportunity to smoke a cigarette, the officer's statement that cigarettes were for cooperators, and the officer's statement that non-cooperators got prison, not cigarettes?

III. Violating Appellant's right to due process of law, did the trial judge err in instructing the jury concerning "the hand of one is the hand of all" after the jury began deliberating where the evidence did not support the instruction?

IV. Violating Appellant's right to due process of law, did the trial judge err in instructing the jury concerning "the hand of one is the hand of all" after the jury began deliberating where the timing of the instruction prevented Appellant from addressing the theory in his closing argument rendering his trial fundamentally unfair?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 12, 2011, a Charleston County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2011-GS-10-5207) and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime (2011-GS-10-5208). R. 694 - 695; R. 697 - 698. On March 31, 2014, the state, represented by Chad Simpson and Drew Evans, called the case to trial before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis and a jury. Beattie Butler and Rhett Dunaway represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 583, line 20 - R. 584, line 1. Judge Dennis sentenced Appellant to thirty-six years' imprisonment for murder and to five years' imprisonment for possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. He ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. R. 585, lines 8-14; R. 696; 699.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Tenika Elmore and Appellant lived together in Orangeburg in June 2011. R. 118, line 19 – R. 120, line 16. At that time, Appellant’s sister, Charmaine Johnson, lived at Georgetown Apartments in Charleston. R. 121, lines 6-19; R. 234, lines 10-18. Charmaine’s boyfriend was Akeem Smalls. R. 122, lines 13-24. Appellant had loaned Smalls money, approximately \$400, in April or May of 2011. R. 122, line 25 – R. 123, line 25; R. 125, lines 7-15. However, Appellant made no efforts to collect the debt and there was no animosity or bad blood between the two concerning the debt. R. 123, lines 14-16; R. 125, lines 19-24; R. 145, line 16.

On June 8, 2011, DeAngelò Buncum went to Georgetown Apartments to hang out with friends. While there, he saw Smalls on the second floor. The two were talking and drinking while Smalls worked on a music CD. R. 419, lines 7-16. At some point, Buncum left Smalls’s apartment and went to another apartment to visit other friends. R. 420, lines 1-5. Sometime after Buncum left Smalls’s apartment, Buncum saw flashlights moving around outside of the apartments and went out to investigate. He saw police officers, who informed him that Smalls had been shot. R. 420, lines 9-22; R. 421, lines 9-14; R. 426, lines 6-9.<sup>1</sup>

On that same day, Appellant, who had dreadlocks, drove Elmore to her place of work in North Charleston around 11 a.m. in Elmore’s car, a 2008 blue Toyota Camry with a specialty license plate, “L-1207.” R. 126, line 20 – R. 129, line 17; R. 132, lines 2-8; R. 149, lines 9-16. Appellant kept Elmore’s car that day. R. 129, line 24 – R. 130, line 2. During his interrogation, Appellant stated that he went to Georgetown Apartments to get

---

<sup>1</sup> Initially, Buncum was charged with murder. Buncum remained in jail for three months until the charges were dropped. R. 424, lines 3-8.

some of his clothing from his sister. He was accompanied by a friend, whom he knew only as “Creep.” While walking to his sister’s apartment, Appellant saw a dark-skinned black male in the area. Appellant heard gunshots. Scared, he and Creep ran back to the car and left. R. 262, lines 3-13; R. 282, line 11 – R. 285, line 23; State’s Exhibit #56. Appellant dropped off Creep, and then went to pick up Elmore from work. State’s Exhibit #56. However, at trial, Appellant maintained that he was not at Georgetown Apartments on the night of the shooting. R. 466, line 18 – R. 480, line 18. Specifically, in closing argument, it was made clear that Appellant “didn’t see a murder. He didn’t participate in a murder. He wasn’t there.” R. 471, lines 1-4.

Elmore got off from work at 11 p.m., but Appellant did not arrive until 11:15 p.m. to pick her up. She was upset with Appellant for being late yet again. R. 132, line 21 – R. 133, line 25. The two then went to Summerville to pick up Appellant’s daughter from his mother’s house, stopped for gas, and then went home to Orangeburg. R. 135, line 16 – R. 136, line 18.

Meanwhile, the Charleston City Police responded to Georgetown Apartments concerning gunshots fired and a man saying he had been shot, but he did not know where he was. Officers found Smalls, wearing only boxer shorts and socks, in a lot next to the apartment complex. He had been shot, but was conscious. R. 165, line 9 – R. 166, line 10. Officers found shell casings and blood drops in the hallway of Building C at Georgetown Apartments. The blood drops went through the apartment complex common areas to an air conditioning unit adjacent to the vacant lot where Smalls was found. Based on the location of the shell casings and the blood drops, the police surmised the shooting occurred on the first level of Building C. R. 172, line 25 – R. 187, line 10; R. 234, line 19 – R. 235, line 3.

The apartment complex had stationary surveillance cameras in various spots, but no camera angle captured the shooting. R. 235, line 22 – R. 241, line 24; State’s Exhibit #55. However, the video from the cameras showed Smalls running across the parking lots. R. 243, line 8 – R. 245, line 10. Based on the video, the police estimated the shooting occurred at 10:18 p.m. R. 242, lines 22-24; R. 246, lines 19-20. The police were interested in one camera angle showing a parking lot near the office. That camera showed a car back into a spot at 10:15 p.m. R. 246, line 6 – R. 247, line 14. Two people got out of the car and walked down a breezeway toward Building C. R. 250, lines 2-13. Approximately two minutes later, the two people get back into the car and drive away. R. 252, line 25 – R. 253, line 9.

Robert Watts and Alise Buckner, who were living in Georgetown Apartments, heard gunshots. Watts called for help while he and Buckner looked outside. R. 439, lines 12-25; R. 440, lines 8-15; R. 454, lines 16-20; R. 455, lines 4-6. Watts saw two men running. He also saw a car that had an “A” in the license plate. R. 441, lines 19-22. Buckner also saw an “A” in the license plate. She further testified the plate was a regular license plate, not a specialty plate. R. 456, lines 2-13.

Days later, on June 14, 2011, the police found an unfired 9 mm Luger bullet made by FC in a nightstand drawer in Charmaine’s apartment in Building C. R. 199, line 6 – R. 203, line 4; R. 233, lines 2-10; R. 234, lines 10-18. A fingerprint examiner identified a latent lift from the unfired bullet to Appellant. R. 410, lines 8-21.

## ARGUMENT

I. In violation of Appellant's state constitutional right to privacy and the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, the trial judge erred in admitting text messages and historical cell service location information obtained from Appellant's cellular service provider by a search warrant lacking probable cause where the search warrant failed to establish a nexus between Appellant's cell phone records and the crime and the warrant was overly broad.

### **Relevant facts**

On June 13, 2011, the Charleston Police obtained a search warrant for records associated with Appellant's cell phone, including "[s]ubscriber information, account comments, billing records, outbound and inbound calls from 06/04/2011 to 06/09/2011" for Appellant's phone number, "subscriber information on any other Verizon numbers listed in the report, call origination location, physical address of cell sites and rf coverage map, all stored communications, or files, including voice mail, e-mail, digital images, text messages, buddy lists, and any other files associated" with Appellant's phone number. The affidavit in support of the search warrant provided (1) that officers responded to a call on June 8, 2011 at Georgetown Apartments and found Smalls suffering from multiple gunshot wounds; (2) Smalls had been in an ongoing dispute with Appellant that escalated to the shooting; (3) that a witness, Shaconnar Goff,<sup>2</sup> saw Appellant holding a firearm moments after hearing the gunshots; (4) that the investigators believed the requested phone records would help further the investigation. The affidavit continued that the records maintained by the cellular service providers "may assist in the identification of person/s accessing and utilizing the account." Further, the affidavit noted that cellular service records included cell site information to coordinate with geographical location of cell sites and the possibility of GPS. According to

---

<sup>2</sup> Shaconnar Goff did not testify at the trial. No witness testified to seeing Appellant at Georgetown Apartments on the night of the shooting or to seeing Appellant with a gun.

the affidavit, “[u]sing the cell site geographical information or GPS information, officers would be able to determine the physical location” of the user, which was “information ... necessary to the investigating officers in order to investigate the crime.” R. 590.

Appellant filed a motion to suppress the evidence secured in response to the search warrant based upon a lack of probable cause. During the suppression hearing, Craig Kosarko, the affiant, testified that he orally supplemented the affidavit as follows: Appellant had been arrested and had the cellphone in his possession at the time and Appellant’s sister and girlfriend provided Appellant’s cell phone number. Further, Kosarko testified, “I told them that he was using the cellphone, according to his girlfriend during the time period of the murder, that whole day.” R. 84, lines 12-21. On cross-examination, Kosarko clarified that he told the magistrate that Appellant’s girlfriend indicated Appellant was using the phone before and after the murder. Kosarko admitted Appellant’s girlfriend would not have known what Appellant was doing at the time of the murder and, therefore, was unable to provide that information. R. 92, lines 1-16.

Kosarko informed the magistrate that during the interrogation, Appellant admitted he was at Georgetown Apartments that day with an individual identified only as “Creep.” R. 85, lines 14-22. Kosarko told the magistrate that he believed Appellant’s cell phone “would have information or contact information of Creep.” R. 86, lines 21-25. Finally, Kosarko claimed he told the magistrate that during the interrogation, Appellant indicated he had used his cell phone “on the day of before and just after the murder” “[w]hen he said he had called a family member, something like that.” R. 87, line 14 – R. 88, line 2.

The prosecutor argued the affidavit satisfied the nexus requirement because “it is perfectly fine for a magistrate to make commonsense assumptions about life as he knows it,

that people these days carry cell phones, and they use them and a treasure trove of information is completely appropriate to obtain when probable cause is asserted that a certain specific individual committed a serious crime.” However, the prosecutor also argued that Kosarko’s oral supplementation more clearly established the nexus between the phone and the crime. R. 97, line 1 – R. 98, line 16.

Appellant countered that “[m]aking calls does not allow them to get his text messages” and no one had said anything about text messages and there was no reason to think he was sending text messages. Appellant noted the fact that he had the phone that day and was using it that day was not sufficient. He explained the probable cause requirement consisted of two parts: a nexus and specificity. The affidavit contained no reason to think Appellant’s text messages and phone records were relevant to the case. R. 98, line 18 – R. 100, line 1.

Judge Dennis held the affidavit was sufficient to establish probable cause for the items sought:

Frankly, the statement that the testimony was someone had seen him using the phone, his own statement that he was. Clearly - - Creep, he said he didn’t know and they’re certainly entitled to get that information, to find, to try to ascertain whether they could get a potential very significant witness.

And, frankly, when a person denies where they’ve been and then says, I was, this is another way to establish where he was. See if there was any - - I think that’s good police work. I don’t think that’s an invasion of anything.

R. 100, line 2 – R. 101, line 11.

Officer Craig Kosarko requested Appellant’s cell phone records from Verizon Wireless pursuant to a search warrant. Using the phone records, Kosarko testified that Appellant contacted Smalls on June 4, 2011, four days before the shooting. R. 370, line 16 – R. 371, line 19; R. 379, lines 8 - 25. Kosarko, using the phone records, claimed that

Appellant called his sister, Charmaine Johnson, at 9:30 p.m. on June 8, 2011, the day of the shooting. R. 371, line 20 – R. 372, line 12.

Kosarko also received the content of Appellant's text messages from Verizon Wireless. Kosarko relayed a series of text messages between Appellant's phone and Terry Stevens on June 8, 2011. At 4:37 p.m., a text message from Appellant's phone to Stevens' phone read: "hey, I go wet dude ass up tonight." Then, at 9:34 p.m., a text message from Appellant's phone to Steven's phone stated, "I can't wait on you. I gotta handle my biz." R. 373, line 1 – R. 378, line 7; R. 588 - 589. Kosarko then claimed that he had heard the terms "wet somebody up" and "wet 'em up" under his experience as a law enforcement officer and the terms meant "[t]o shoot somebody or kill someone." R. 378, lines 17-24.<sup>3</sup>

Willis Walker used Appellant's phone's historical cell site location information to plot the location of Appellant's phone on June 8, 2011. According to Walker, most of the cell sites for that day were in the Summerville and North Charleston area. R. 401, lines 6-17; R. (on file with this court). However, there was one call at 10:02 p.m. where the phone used a tower at the interchange of Cosgrove Road and I-26. R. 401, line 18 – R. 402, line 15.

In his closing argument, the solicitor argued Appellant's phone records were "incredibly important." He went through the series of text messages and emphasized his interpretation of "wet up." He reiterated Appellant's phone call to his sister at 9:30 p.m. as indicating Appellant knew where Smalls was shortly before the shooting. Further, the

---

<sup>3</sup> According to Elmore, the phrase "wet up" meant to shoot someone or get drunk. R. 144, lines 1-8. Osborne found multiple definitions for the term "wet up" in the Urban Dictionary, including to shoot or stab someone and to take shots or drink any alcoholic beverage until at least tipsy. R. 291, line 18 – R. 294, line 3.

solicitor used historical cell site location information to show an “anomaly” indicating Appellant was only a “short hop” from Smalls’s apartment at 10:02 p.m., mere moments before the shooting. R. 484, line 15 – R. 490, line 2.<sup>4</sup>

## **Discussion**

- A. *Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, Appellant had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his cell phone records, including text messages and historical cell site location information.*

The Fourth Amendment guarantees “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. Amend. IV. “[T]he underlying command of the Fourth Amendment is always that searches and seizures be reasonable.” Wilson v. Arkansas, 514 U.S. 927, 931 (1995). Protection under the Fourth Amendment is afforded to those who have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the place searched. Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 143 (1978). To demonstrate an expectation of privacy, the defendant must show he had a subjective expectation of not being discovered and the expectation was one that society recognized as reasonable. Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 351, (1967); Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 177 (1984). The Fourth Amendment is a personal right and an individual must invoke its protections. Minnesota v. Carter, 525 U.S. 83, 88 (1998).

[I]n order to claim the protection of the Fourth amendment, a defendant must demonstrate that he personally has an expectation of privacy in the place searched, and that his expectation is reasonable; i.e., one that has ‘a source outside of the Fourth Amendment, either by reference to concepts of real or personal property law or to understandings that are recognized and permitted by society.’

---

<sup>4</sup> During the deliberations, the jury asked to re-hear the testimony about the text messages and asked about a phone number presented during the state’s case. R. 687; R. 693.

Id. (quoting Rakas, 439 U.S. at 143-144, and n.12). The United States Supreme Court created the exclusionary rule to safeguard Fourth Amendment rights. United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338 (1974). The exclusionary rule prohibits the use of evidence obtained directly or indirectly through an unlawful search or seizure under the fruits of the poisonous tree doctrine. See Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 484 (1963); see also State v. Nelson, 336 S.C. 186, 519 S.E.2d 786 (1999) (finding evidence is not admissible under the “fruit of the poisonous tree” doctrine when the police exploit an unlawful search to seize evidence that would not have otherwise come to light).<sup>5</sup>

Recently, this Court held an individual does not have an expectation of privacy pursuant to the Fourth Amendment in his historical cell site location records. State v. Drayton, Op. No. 2012-213295 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 4, 2015). A petition for rehearing is pending currently in that case. Respectfully, Appellant urges this Court to reconsider its decision in Drayton as it applies to this case. A careful examination of recent Supreme Court precedent indicates that an individual has an expectation of privacy in not only the historical cell site location records, but the call records and text messages as well; thus, Appellant asks this Court to consider the matter in the present case.

The United States Supreme Court’s recent decision in Riley v. California, 134 S.Ct. 2473 (2014) supports Appellant’s contention that individuals have an expectation of privacy in cell phone records, including phone call records, text messages and historical cell site location information. The Supreme Court held that that a search warrant is required to search a cell phone, even when the phone is seized incident to arrest. Id. at 2493. The Court

---

<sup>5</sup> The Fourteenth Amendment incorporates the rule of excluding evidence obtained through an illegal search or seizure and makes it applicable to the states. Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 655 (1961).

rested its opinion upon the “quantitative and qualitative” difference between cell phones and other items of personal property. Id. at 2489. “One of the most notable and distinguishing features of modern cell phones is their immense storage capacity.” Id. “Cell phones couple that capacity with the ability to store many different types of information.” Id. One of the Court’s many concerns with cell phones was the ability of the cell phone to allow the reconstruction of the sum of an individual’s private life, including the person’s whereabouts on particular dates. Id. The Court explained “[h]istoric location information is a standard feature on many smart phones and can reconstruct someone’s specific movements down to the minute, not only around town but also within a particular building.” Id. at 2490 (citing United States v. Jones, 565 U.S. \_\_\_, 132 S.Ct. 945, 955 (2012)(Sotomayor, J., concurring)).

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