ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Charleston County
The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-000766**

RECEIVED

OCT 13 2015

Respondent, SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

vs.

DEVIN JOHNSON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**ALAN WILSON
Attorney General**

**JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General**

**P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305**

**SCARLETT WILSON
Solicitor, 9th Judicial Circuit
O.T. Wallace Bldg.
101 Meeting St., Ste #400

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

¹⁹ As to all of the eyewitnesses and nonconfidential informants, generally, Respondent would note that "nonconfidential informants and eyewitnesses have more credibility than confidential informants." *State v. Jones*, 342 S.C. 121, 128, 536 S.E.2d 675, 679 (2000). "[E]vidence of past reliability is not usually required when information is provided by an eyewitness because, unlike the paid informer, the eyewitness does not ordinarily have the opportunity to establish a record of previous reliability." *State v. Thompson*, Op. No. 5341, *8 (S.C. Ct. App., Aug. 12, 2015) (quoting *State v. Driggers*, 322 S.C. 506, 510, 473 S.E.2d 57, 59 (Ct. App. 1996)).

Moreover, this eyewitness's statement was admissible at trial, as an excited utterance under Rule 803(1), SCRE, although she did not testify. See *State v. Hendricks*, 408 S.C. 525, 759 S.E.2d 434 (Ct.App. 2014) (holding that the trial court acted within its discretion by admitting statement made by victim to her mother, in which victim reported details of a sexual assault and identified defendant as the perpetrator, as an excited utterance); *State v. Ladner*, 373

Appellant's girlfriend and his sister; (7) his girlfriend and his sister had provided his cell phone number; (8) his girlfriend indicated that he had been using this phone on the day of the murder, including the time period of the murder; (9) he was in possession of the cell phone when he was arrested; (10) he admitted to police, in the June 10th interview, that he had used a cell phone both before and after the murder; (11) he had also admitted in his statement that he was in the apartment complex on the day of the murder, and was "actually captured on video with another individual;" and (12) he had identified the other person as "Creep." **R. pp. 82-87; 92-93.**

The magistrate was also told that police were attempting "to identify Creep and that [police] believed that his cell phone would have information or contact information of Creep. That's what we were looking for" because Appellant had identified the other person with him that night as "Creep." **R.pp. 86-88; 91-93.** Police were also interested in the cell phone tower information because, utilizing the historical cell site location data, police could determine Appellant's "whereabouts before, during and after the murder to help either substantiate or refute his interview with us." **R.p. 90.**

It is common knowledge that people often keep a veritable "treasure trove of information" on cell phones. Based upon this common sense knowledge and the other information the State provided to the magistrate, it was reasonable for the magistrate to conclude that "there [was] a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime [would] be found in

S.C. 103, 119-20, 644 S.E.2d 684, 692-93 (2007) (holding that "the incompetency of a declarant at the time of trial does not preclude the admission of that declarant's excited utterance through a different, competent witness", and explaining that a declarant's inability to testify at trial does not diminish the reliability of that declarant's excited utterance because "the intrinsic reliability of an excited utterance ... 'will normally remain undiluted by faulty memory, inability to understand questions or otherwise to communicate on the witness stand' "); *State v. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 23 n. 1, 558 S.E.2d 518, 522 n. 1 (2002) (finding declarant's statement in response to a question did not prevent his answer from being an excited utterance). Because the "the intrinsic reliability of an excited utterance derives from the statement's spontaneity[,] which is determined by the totality of the circumstances surrounding the statement when it was uttered," *Ladner*, 373 S.C. at 119-20, 644 S.E.2d at 693; the magistrate could rely upon this information as part of the totality of the circumstances supporting a finding of probable cause without further proof of the declarant's reliability.

[Appellant's cell phone, calls, text messages and/or historical cell site location information]." See *Kinloch*, 410 S.C. at 617, 767 S.E.2d at 155. In other words, the magistrate had a "substantial basis for ... conclud[ing]" that probable cause existed. *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 238-39, 103 S.Ct. at 2332. Rather than a violation of Appellant's constitutional rights, the trial judge astutely observed that this was "good police work" and that Appellant's Fourth Amendment rights were protected by the search warrant.

Moreover, Appellant's position is not supported by *State v. Smith*, 301 S.C. 371, 373, 392 S.E.2d 182, 183 (1990), *Baccus*, or *State v. Weston*, 329 S.C. 287, 291, 494 S.E.2d 801, 803 (1997). In *Smith*, the defendant moved to suppress a knife, allegedly used in the armed robbery of a Charleston, South Carolina, Master Inn motel that was seized pursuant to a search warrant from his room at a different motel. 301 S.C. at 372, 392 S.E.2d at 183.

The Court found that "[t]his affidavit is defective on its face." *Id.* at 373, 392 S.E.2d at 183. The Court explained that "the affidavit sets forth no facts as to why police believed Smith robbed the Master Host Inn. Although the record reveals that police relied upon information from an informant, there is no indication that this fact was made known to the magistrate, or that the magistrate made any determination of the informant's reliability." *Id.* As a result, the Court remanded the case for the trial judge to the trial court for a hearing to determine whether or not sufficient oral testimony was presented to the magistrate to support a finding of probable cause. *Id.*

The Court reached a similar conclusion with respect to the affidavit in support of the search warrant for the seizure of the defendant's automobile in *Weston*. The affidavit at issue in *Weston* stated that a Claude Crumlin was the victim of an armed robbery and assault with intent to kill on the night of March 18, 1994; that the defendant was a suspect in these crimes and was

the registered owner of the vehicle to be searched; and that a witness stated that the defendant was driving the vehicle at the time of the incident. *Id.* at 289, 494 S.E.2d at 802

The Court found that:

the affidavit failed to set forth any facts as to why police believed Weston committed the Crumlin crime. The first three sentences of the affidavit were mere conclusory statements. While the fourth sentence provided information linking Weston to his car at the time of the incident, it offered nothing to link Weston or the Datsun to the Crumlin crime itself. Additionally, there was absolutely nothing on the face of the affidavit from which the ministerial recorder could have assessed the veracity and basis of knowledge of the informant. Therefore, based on the totality of the circumstances, we find the affidavit could not have provided the ministerial recorder with a substantial basis for finding probable cause to search Weston's car.

Id. at 291-92, 494 S.E.2d at 803.

Finally in *Baccus*, the Court found that the trial court erred by refusing to suppress evidence seized from Appellant's residence because the search warrant was not supported by probable cause. The search warrant sought clothing and forensic evidence possibly connected to the victim's homicide since the supporting affidavit failed to set forth any facts as to why police believed that the appellant had committed the crime. The supporting affidavit merely stated that at the time of the hiss arrest, officers viewed a pile of what appeared to be smoldering clothing lying on the ground beside the appellant's residence, and that the appellant's bloodstained vehicle was located a quarter mile from his residence. *Baccus*, 367 S.C. at 51-52, 625 S.E.2d at 221-222.

The Court concluded that the supporting affidavit failed to set forth any facts as to why police believed that the appellant had committed the murder because "[t]he language in the affidavit lacks specificity and contains conclusory statements. Given the totality of the circumstances, we conclude the issuing magistrate did not have a substantial basis to find probable cause for a search of [a]ppellant's residence, and the trial court erred in admitting evidence seized pursuant to the search warrant." *Id.* at 52, 625 S.E.2d at 222.

Contrary to these cases, the supporting affidavit in Appellant's case provided sufficient information for the magistrate that there was a homicide; that both Appellant and another person, "Creep," were linked to this offense; that the requested information was for Appellant's phone; that he had used the phone on the day of the murder, including both before and after the murder; and that he was still in possession of the phone at the time of his arrest.

Additionally, the State was attempting to locate the person whom Appellant claimed that he was with on the night of June 8th, Creep. This factor further distinguishes *Smith*, *Weston* and *Baccus*. It was reasonable to conclude that information leading officers to Creep's identity might be on the phone. As a result, the magistrate had a "substantial basis for ... conclus[ing]" that probable cause existed. *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 238-39, 103 S.Ct. at 2332.

At trial, Appellant conceded that the affidavit set forth probable cause to believe that a crime was committed but suggested that "what's missing here in both of these search warrants is any nexus... [or] connection between the cell phone and the cell phone records and the crime itself." The problem with his argument is that the "nexus" requirement relates only to the nexus between the place to be searched and the relevant evidence for which the police are looking. "In determining where a search warrant is supported by probable cause, the crucial element is not whether the target of the search is suspected of crime, but whether it is reasonable to believe that the items to be seized will be found in the place to be searched." *United States v. Lalor*, 996 F.2d 1578, 1582 (4th Cir. 1993) (citing *Zurcher v. Stanford Daily*, 436 U.S. 547, 556 & n. 6, 98 S.Ct. 1970, 1976-77 & n. 6 (1978)); *Anderson*, 851 F.2d at 729-30 (4th Cir. 1988) (observing that "[t]he Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Ninth Circuits have held that the nexus between the place to be searched and the items to be seized may be established by the nature of the items and the normal

inferences of where one would likely keep such evidence” and adopting that reasoning). Nevertheless, the State presented the nexus that he claims was necessary.

Because police obtained a warrant that was supported by probable cause, his reliance upon the United States Supreme Court’s decision in *Riley v. California* is misplaced. In *Riley*, police conducted warrantless searches of the contents of the defendants’ cell phones following arrest, as a search incident to arrest. The issue in *Riley* was whether the search incident to arrest exception, first articulated in *Chimel v. California*, 395 U.S. 752, 89 S.Ct. 2034, 23 L.Ed.2d 685 (1969), overcame that privacy interest for the contents of an arrestee’s cell phone. *Riley*, 134 S.Ct. at 2480-85. The Court determined that it did not because neither the interest in protecting the police officers’ safety nor the interest in preventing the destruction of evidence justified dispensing with the warrant requirement before officers could search digital data on the arrestees’ cell phones. *Id* at 2485-88, 2491-92. The concerns that the Court expressed in *Riley*, however, are absent in this case, since police obtained a warrant that was supported by probable cause before they acquired the information at issue.

Likewise, Appellant’s reliance on *United States v. Jones*, 132 S.Ct. 945, 949 (2012), (attaching a global positioning system (GPS) tracking device to a car and monitoring the car’s movements for twenty-eight days, without a valid warrant, violated the Fourth Amendment because placing device on car required Government to “physically occup[y] private property for the purpose of obtaining information”) is misplaced. *Jones* and cases like *State v. Adams*, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct.App. 2003), are readily distinguishable from this case because this case did not involve the commission of a trespass by police, or a month-long constant governmental surveillance, without judicial oversight. Further, and unlike *Jones*, here, the actions of the police were subject to judicial review by a magistrate, who found that probable

cause existed to issue the search warrants. Thus, whatever qualms some members of the United States Supreme Court may have about whether they may need to rethink certain older Fourth Amendment jurisprudence based upon technological advances, none of those concerns are present here. The same is true of the concerns voiced by Justice Hearn, in her dissent in *State v. Dykes*, 403 S.C. 499, 511-522, 744 S.E.2d 505, 511-517 (2013) (Hearn, J. dissenting).

To the contrary, the limited 5 day span of **records** and cell phone activity (as opposed to electronic monitoring of the defendant's movements for a protracted period of time without any judicial oversight, as in the GPS cases, would satisfy Justice Alito's concurrence in *Jones*, 132 S.Ct. at 957-64 (Alito, J., concurring), as would judicial review of the police action. *See Id.* at 949. These factors would also satisfy the concurring opinions in *Jones*, which included *obiter dictum* finding that "use of long[] term GPS monitoring in investigations of most offenses impinges on expectations of privacy." *See Jones*, 132 S.Ct. at 955-57 (Sotomayor, concurring); *id.* at 961-64 (Alito, J., concurring in the judgment).

3. **Appellant's claims that article 1, § 10 of the South Carolina Constitution required suppression because it "favors an interpretation offering a higher level of privacy protection than the Fourth Amendment" and because "[t]he focus in the state constitution is on whether the invasion of privacy is reasonable, regardless of the person's expectation of privacy" are not properly before this Court on appeal because he did not present these arguments to the trial judge.**

Realizing that his motion to suppress lacks merit under the Fourth Amendment, Appellant claims that S.C. Const. art. 1, § 10 required suppression because it " 'favors an interpretation offering a higher level of privacy protection than the Fourth Amendment.' *State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 645, 541 S.E.2d 837, 841 (2001)." He likewise claims that the South Carolina constitutional right to privacy required suppression because " '[t]he focus in the state constitution is on whether the invasion of privacy is reasonable, regardless of the person's

expectation of privacy.’ *State v. Weaver*, 374 S.C. 313, 322, 649 S.E.2d 479, 483 (2007).” **FBOA, p. 15.** However, his arguments that S.C. Const. art. 1, § 10 required suppression are not properly before this Court on appeal because they were not presented to the trial judge. While he referenced S.C. Const. art. 1, § 10 in his motion to suppress (**R. p. 61**) and at the hearing on his motion, he did not argue either that the South Carolina constitutional right to privacy afforded greater protection than the Fourth Amendment or that the state constitution focuses upon whether the invasion of privacy is reasonable, regardless of the person's expectation of privacy. As a result, his arguments are not properly before this Court on appeal. *See Bailey*, 298 S.C. at 5-6, 377 S.E.2d at 584 (a party cannot argue one theory in support of motion at trial and a different theory on appeal); *State v. Byram*, 326 S.C. 107, 485 S.E.2d 360 (1997) (same); *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (an objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error); *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct.App. 1996) (“To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court”); *State v. Vanderbilt*, 287 S.C. 597, 340 S.E.2d 543 (1986) (“Issues not properly preserved at trial may not be raised for the first time on appeal. To the extent that *State v. Griffin*, [129 S.C. 200, 124 S.E. 81 (1924)], may be inconsistent with this result it is overruled”).

Alternatively, Respondent submits that his reliance on S.C. Const. art. 1, § 10 is misplaced. In *Forrester*, the first issue before the Court was whether the state constitutional right to privacy provision “require[d] police officers to inform citizens that they have the right to refuse consensual searches and without such admonition, a search is involuntary.” 343 S.C. at 645, 541 S.E.2d at 841. The Court concluded that it did not, the Court concluded that “while our state constitution may provide a higher level of protection in the search and seizure context, it

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